COMMUNITY SAFETY SUB OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

12 JANUARY 2016

PRESENT: Councillor P Dillon (Chair)

Councillors T Graham, B Coates, S Dickie, A Wheeler, H Hughes

CSS.13/15 APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors K Dodds, P Craig and J McClurey.

CSS.14/15 MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2015 were approved as a correct record.

The minutes of the Community Safety Board held on 30 October 2015 were noted for information.

CSS.15/15 OSC REVIEW: EVIDENCE GATHERING SESSION ON PREVENTING EXTREMISM

The Committee received a presentation from Frances Hands, Education Gateshead and John Gray, Gateshead College on the awareness training that has been undertaken to all schools, early years and childcare providers and college students around the Prevent Duty.

RESOLVED - That the information be noted.

CSS.16/15 MERGING OF NORTHUMBRIA AREA COMMAND

The Committee received a verbal update from Superintendent Richie Jackson on the merging of the Northumbria Area Command and in particular the work of the Central Area Command.

RESOLVED - That the information be noted.

CSS.17/15 COMMUNITY SAFETY BOARD – COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT PLAN

The Committee received a report following a request from Committee at its last meeting in October 2015 to provide an update on activity that has been undertaken by the Community Safety Board to positively address feelings of safety within the Borough.

The Committee received an overview of the Communications and Engagement Framework that has been produced on behalf of the Community Safety Board to ensure that the profile of the work that is routinely undertaken by the Board is proactive, that it makes residents feel safe and also sets out how the Board intends to engage, consult and feedback outcomes to local residents and community groups throughout the next twelve months.

Gateshead continues to be one of the safest boroughs within Northumbria and still remains one of the best performing Community Safety Partnerships (when compared to its 15 Most Similar Family Groups). Latest Safer Communities Survey findings show the vast majority of residents feel safe and are satisfied with the services delivered by the Police and Council to address crime and anti-social behaviour in their local area.

Despite this, reported crime has started to increase, deliberate secondary fires have risen as have reports of complex ASB. Although this is not too dissimilar to the rising trends found across the whole of Northumbria, it is something the Board will need to be mindful of when implementing its future Communication and Engagement Framework.

The Board have continued to stress the importance of tackling fear of crime and improving feelings of safety, which is particularly crucial in light of diminishing resources coupled with the potential impact of wider changes to organisation delivery models and structures. Board members also agreed that we must also be able to effectively manage resident expectations of the services that can be offered by partners working under the community safety banner in order to ensure that public confidence remains high.

Effective communication is important if the Partnership is to continue raising the profile of the good work is does which includes getting key messages, advice and information to specific targeted groups. The current arrangements are working well, however the following actions have been identified to further develop communications:

- Implementation of a CSB Communications and Engagement Framework
- Production of a multi-agency Action Plan and Campaign Calendar that will set out the key seasonal trends that warrant additional media attention. This will consider historic crime and disorder statistics as well as specific national and regional campaigns and will ensure we have a co-ordinated approach to the Partnership's communications activity.
- Development of a Task and Finish Group to look at how best to progress the communications activity on behalf of the Board.

The following priorities as areas to be developed in the near future:

Communication and Engagement Framework

A Communications and Engagement Framework has been drafted to reaffirm the role of communications for the Board. The Framework will support the priorities of the Board and ensure that communications support targets and maintain the profile of partnership working. It will also help re-establish the communications protocol between partners and give us the base from which to develop a Communications

Plan for the year ahead, making sure media linked with Community Safety is valuable, informative and meet the needs of our priorities.

Website

The Community Safety section of Gateshead Council website will be updated to ensure the right information and links are relevant. The Web and Digital Team have recently trained a Community Safety Officer to become a website editor, to ensure that information is uploaded onto the website in a timely and consistent manner.

Social Media

Gateshead Council's social media channels (Facebook and Twitter) are used to inform residents of immediate community safety issues (either directly from Gateshead Council or via the Community Safety Boards partners) and put a spotlight on larger pieces of work.

Communications in the Community

Discussions to be held with Neighbourhood Management and Volunteering Team to establish further communication opportunities with community groups.

The Council's Communications Team will lead on re-establishing the Communications Groups between the partners, to ensure that opportunities to promote the message of partnership working between organisations.

RESOLVED -	 i) that the information be noted ii) that the Committee agreed to receive six-monthly updates in relation to the activity undertaken to promote CSB activity and improve feelings of safety within Gateshead.
CSS.18/15	MULTI-AGENCY TASKING AND CO-ORDINATION:

CSS.18/15 MULTI-AGENCY TASKING AND CO-ORDINATION: ADDRESSING OFFENDING BEHAVIOUR OF DOMESTOC ABUSE PERPETRATORS

The Committee received a report following a request from Committee at its last meeting in October 2015 to provide additional information relating to the Multi Agency Tasking and Coordination Groups that have been established by Northumbria Police, in collaboration with partners, to address the offending behaviour of domestic abuse perpetrators.

Latest national statistics relating to domestic abuse show in the last 12 months, there were in excess of 1 million calls for assistance to Police for domestic related incidents – of which 269,700 were classified as domestic-relate crime and around 6,400 were domestic related sexual offences. This equates to over 8% of all crime committed throughout the whole of England and Wales and an average, it equates to someone contacting the police for assistance in relation to domestic abuse every 30 seconds. There were almost sixty-thousand cases referred to MARAC for high-risk of serious harm or murder cases; of which almost 45% involve children.

The figures demonstrate the prevalence of domestic abuse at a national scale and highlight the devastating impact that it can have on lives of victims and individuals. In September 2014, the Home Secretary commissioned HMIC to conduct an inspection on the Police response to domestic abuse. The final report highlighted that although services and agencies are available to provide support to victims many forces missed opportunities to target domestic abuse perpetrators and programmes designed to change behaviour of perpetrators are often quite sparse.

The report provided a rationale for how improved targeting and management of perpetrators of domestic abuse would reduce victimisation and potentially prevent domestic homicides from occurring. It also highlighted best practice used Police Scotland regarding their methods of tackling domestic abuse perpetrators and use of the 'Recency, Frequency and Gravity' analysis tool alongside a Multi-Agency Tasking and Coordination process. As a result of these findings, Northumbria Police has recently implemented a similar early intervention model, which is the first of its kind within England and Wales.

Promoting early intervention work with perpetrators of domestic abuse remains a key priority within the regional Violence Against Women and Girls (VAGW) Strategy which has been implemented jointly on behalf of Northumbria, Durham and Cleveland Police and Crime Commissioners. Tackling perpetrators is also included within the strategic priorities identified within the Community Safety Board Partnership Plan for 2015/16 and sits comfortably with the introduction of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and Operation Encompass initiatives within Community Safety in Gateshead.

Following consultation with partners, Northumbria Police submitted a proposal to the Home Office in an application for Police Innovation Fund, setting out a consistent process to identifying and targeting the most harmful/serial domestic abuse perpetrators. A significant proportion of the process is about preventing re-offending by perpetrators as well as prevention of escalation of violence at the very early stages – and includes:

- Identification of perpetrators and the production of in-depth subject profiles;
- Introduction of multi-agency MATAC approach to identify actions to try and curb offending behaviour (enforcement, preventive and support elements).
- Production of a domestic abuse toolkit and/or guidance document for use by operational staff;
- Commissioning of a voluntary domestic abuse perpetrator programme to ensure areas across Northumbria have some form of provision available;
- Implementation of 'live' monitoring/tagging offenders on a voluntary basis which will be able to assess the proximity of victims and offenders.

Analysis and Identification

Northumbria Police have a dedicated Analyst to produce target lists along with in-depth subject profiles for each target. The Analyst uses a method of analysis based on RFG –'Regency, Frequency and Gravity' of offending behaviour to identify the most harmful/serial perpetrators to target. The definition of a serial perpetrator to be used by MATAC is an offender who is listed as an offender aged 16 years or over, has committed more than one domestic abuse incident against two or more different victims (partner/ex-partner, familial relationship as well as non-violent incidents) in the last 3 years. The development of a bespoke analytical package ensures Police and partners are able to implement a consistent and evidence led way of targeting offenders who cause greatest level of harm within our communities.

Multi-Agency Tasking and Coordination Group

Once the perpetrators are identified using the RFG methodology, there needs to be a process for the tasking and coordination of resources to tackle these perpetrators effectively. The process mirrors the MARAC and MAPPA models that are already in place within Gateshead and ensures the Police and partner agencies resources are deployed in the most appropriate way. The MATAC and MAPPA models that are already in place within Gateshead and ensure the Police and partner agencies resources are deployed in the most appropriate way. The MATAC meeting is held on a monthly basis and is chaired by Detective Inspector within Northumbria Police Protective Vulnerable Persons (PVP) Unit.

The membership of the MATAC is quite fluid and includes a range of Council services and partner agencies (depending upon the nature of the case) with membership including: CPS, Probation, Domestic Abuse Co-ordinators, IDVAs, Housing Providers, Prison Service, Police (including representation from PVP, Force Intelligence Unit and local Area Commands).

Only a maximum of 5 perpetrators would be worked with at any point in time and the MATAC would decide how each perpetrator should be targeted and which agencies should do it. It is envisaged the MATAC process will highlight more of the serial offenders who offend against a series of victims, who are quite often assessed as standard risk victims, therefore meaning these serial perpetrators are not highlighted by any other process (e.g. MAPPA).

Domestic Abuse Toolkit

Good practice/guidance around domestic abuse and tackling of perpetrators has been produced which will include tactical options to disrupt and prevent further offending. This will complement the extensive work Northumbria Police and partner agencies' currently carry out in support of victims of domestic abuse and seek to reduce victimisation and harm and increase feelings of safety. The domestic abuse toolkit includes multi-agency prevention methods, diversion, disruption and enforcement options (based on whether perpetrators choose to engage or not engage in the process).

Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Programmes

Northumbria Police have commissioned a Respect-accredited domestic abuse perpetrator intervention programme within Sunderland, which is a consortium of Barnardo's, Impact Family Service and Gentoo. Additional funding has been approved for additional programmes in all localities across Northumbria – and will complement the existing domestic abuse perpetrator programme that we already have located in Gateshead. Deter Innovations have been providing specialist support to domestic abuse perpetrators for a number of years – and were visited as part of the recent OSC Review into Domestic Abuse. The service receive referrals from a range of Council services – including Children Services and Community Safety – and the MATAC process will draw upon and complement the work already been undertaken by this agency.

Electronic monitoring of DA perpetrators

The Innovation Fund Bid provides funding for 10 x GPS Electronic Monitoring Proximity Devices. These devices are a unique design which provides a unit to both the victim and perpetrator (and also has the function of a mobile phone enabling Police to make calls and speak to the victim and perpetrator). The perpetrator is additionally tagged with a conventional type tag on the ankle.

The perpetrator can be given exclusion zones of particular areas which can be at designated times of the day. The unit also uniquely provides a 'live' proximity alert between the perpetrator and the victim unit, so that perpetrators can also be given a condition not to be within a certain distance of the victim. As soon as the perpetrator and victim are within the designated distance of each other both the victim unit and the perpetrator unit will received an alert informing them of the proximity, the Police will also receive an alert. Both victim and perpetrator will be located via GPS and further appropriate intervention taken, if necessary. This device has been very successfully used by Spanish Police, who report victims increased feelings of safety and reduced perpetrator re offending. It is thought that Northumbria is the only locality in the UK to trial these devices.

There have been a couple of issues with the introduction of this approach. Firstly, the law is unclear around using GPS monitoring and requires some clarification from the Ministry of Justice. The second and most obvious barrier is that for the Courts or Probation Service to consider use of any type of tagging unit they need approval from the Secretary of State. Currently, the Secretary of State has awarded the national to Capita, who do not have this technology at their disposal. The Police and Crime Commissioner for Northumbria have raised the issue with representatives from the Home Office who have been asked to consider designating Northumbria a pilot area to trial the devices. Although, there are no issues in deploying these units on a voluntary basis but full co-operation, of both victim and perpetrator, is required.

Next Steps

The MATAC Model will be implemented within Gateshead in January 2016. A dedicated MATAC co-ordinator has been employed by Northumbria Police to coordinate and facilitates the process – which will link in closely with Community Safety. Initial discussions have taken place with Council services and partners about their involvement and expected role in the MATAC process; whilst a specific Information Sharing Agreement has also been drafted/approved. In addition, a clear referral process has been created and shared with partners to allow agencies to submit domestic abuse perpetrators to be considered as part of the process.

RESOLVED -

i) ii) that the information be noted

that the Committee agreed to receive six-monthly updates in relation to the MATAC process